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I. STATEMENT

1. This docket concerns the complaint by Craig S. Suwinski (Suwinski or Complainant) against Respondent Vail Summit Resorts, Inc., doing business as Keystone Resorts (Keystone).  Complainant Suwinski filed the complaint on February 1, 2005 and Respondent Keystone filed its Answer to the complaint on February 24, 2005.  Hearing is now set in this matter on May 11, 2005.

2. Mr. Suwinski is a private citizen living in Keystone, Colorado.  Keystone is a transportation carrier with Commission authority to provide common carrier service in Colorado. 

3. The complaint alleges that Keystone has provided and continues to provide certain transportation services without Commission authority.  Besides requesting refunds for himself, Mr. Suwinski requests:  (a) that the Commission investigate Keystone for its alleged violations of law; and (b) issuance of civil penalties for those violations.

4. By Decision No. R05-0255-I (Mailed Date of March 2, 2005), the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) directed the parties to file briefs addressing Mr. Suwinski’s standing to request a Commission investigation and the assessment of civil penalties against Keystone by the filing of a formal complaint.  Mr. Suwinski filed his Brief in response to Decision No. R05-0255-I on March 16, 2005.
  On March 28, 2005, Keystone filed its Answer Brief, Motion to Dismiss Complaint, or in the Alternative, Motion to Strike Brief.  And on March 31, 2005, Suwinski filed his Response to Motion to Dismiss Complaint and Motion to Strike Brief.

5. For the reasons discussed below, the ALJ dismisses those claims for relief in the complaint that request a Commission investigation of Keystone and the related request for assessment of civil penalties.  This complaint will proceed to hearing only on Mr. Suwinski’s request for refunds (portions of ¶ 9 of complaint).

6. The ALJ also directs Mr. Suwinski to file his list of witnesses and copies of exhibits on or before April 27, 2005.
  Keystone is directed to file its lists of witnesses and copies of exhibits on or before May 4, 2005.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSION OF LAW

7. The portions of the complaint requesting a Commission investigation of Keystone for violations of Commission statutes and rules, and assessment of civil penalties against Keystone are dismissed.  As explained below, Mr. Suwinski, as a private citizen, has no standing in a complaint proceeding to compel a Commission investigation of Keystone and, more importantly, no standing to request civil penalties.  Under the provisions of the Colorado Public Utilities Law that grant the Commission authority to assess civil penalties, only certain state officials (i.e., investigative personnel of the Commission, personnel of the ports of entry, and members of the Colorado State Patrol) have the authority to initiate proceedings for the assessment of civil penalties against transportation carriers.  In order for Mr. Suwinski, a private citizen, to initiate a lawsuit for civil penalties against Keystone, a statute must specifically authorize that suit.  And, in fact, there is no statute permitting private citizens to initiate civil penalty proceedings before the Commission.

8. The ALJ also determines that the Commission has no authority to assess civil penalties in a complaint proceeding, since no statute authorizes this procedure.  Further, the ALJ finds that the Commission cannot assess civil penalties in a complaint proceeding because the mandatory statutory procedures for assessing civil penalties are inconsistent with complaint procedures before the Commission.

9. In his complaint (¶¶ 2 and 4), Mr. Suwinski essentially alleges that Keystone, since approximately November, 2003, has been providing transportation service between Keystone, Colorado and Vail, Breckenridge and Vail, and Frisco and Vail.  The complaint (¶ 2) states that Keystone has no Commission authority to provide these services.  Apparently, Mr. Suwinski was a passenger on two of these unauthorized trips since the complaint (¶ 9) requests a refund and interest for two trips for a party of two.

10. As relief (besides refunds for Mr. Suwinski himself), the complaint is “requesting the investigation of (Keystone) for not complying with PUC rules and regulations” (complaint, ¶ 9) and “the issuance of appropriate civil penalties for any violations of state statute or PUC rules and regulations” (complaint, ¶ 10).

11. To clarify, the ALJ assumes that the complaint is requesting a Commission investigation in conjunction with civil penalties.  That is, the ALJ assumes that the request for a Commission investigation (¶ 9 of complaint) is not independent of the request for civil penalties.  If, in fact, Mr. Suwinski’s request for a Commission investigation is a stand-alone request, that too would be improper.  The Commission has the discretion to investigate (or not investigate) regulated entities for compliance with statutes and rules.
  No authority exists for a person to compel the Commission to conduct any investigation by the filing of a formal complaint.  Essentially, such a complainant would be asking the Commission to order itself (or its Staff) to do an investigation in ruling on the complaint.  However, neither the Commission nor its Staff is a party to this proceeding; therefore, it is not legally possible for the Commission to issue an order requiring itself (or its Staff) to conduct an investigation in ruling on the complaint by Mr. Suwinski.

As noted, the ALJ assumes that Mr. Suwinski is requesting an investigation as part of the suggestion to impose civil penalties on Keystone.  The ALJ points out that the Commission’s authority to assess civil penalties against motor vehicle carriers is based upon statutes.  Trans Shuttle v. Public Utilities Commission, 89 P.3d 398, at 404 (Colo. 2004).   And without those statutes, specifically §§ 40-7-112 through 116, C.R.S., the Commission would not be empowered to assess civil penalties in any proceeding before the Commission itself.  So, for example, the Commission has no authority to assess civil penalties against fixed public utilities that violate Commission statutes and rules.  The Commission cannot assess a civil penalty against a fixed utility whether as part of a complaint proceeding, a show cause action, an application, etc.  Instead, if the Commission wishes to pursue penalties against a fixed utility for violations of law, it is required to initiate an action in district court under §§ 40-7-101 and 40-7-109, C.R.S.  The reason the Commission itself cannot assess penalties against fixed utilities is that no statute authorizes this.

12. The Commission, then, has penalty assessment authority only to the extent provided by statute and the Commission must follow the provisions of those statutes when it imposes such penalties against transportation carriers.  Section 40-7-112, C.R.S., provides that, “A person who operates a motor vehicle carrier….shall be subject to civil penalties as provided in this section and sections 40-7-113 to 40-7-116…” (emphasis added).

13. Section 40-7-116, C.R.S., clarifies who exactly may initiate proceedings for civil penalty assessments before the Commission:  “Investigative personnel of the commission and personnel of the ports of entry and the Colorado state patrol shall have the authority to issue civil penalty assessments for the violations numerated in sections 40-7-113 and 40-7-114….”  Clearly, the statutes do not permit citizen lawsuits, such as the instant complaint, that result in civil penalties against transportation carriers subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction.  The statutes that authorize civil penalty proceedings before the Commission permit only the listed state officials to initiate those proceedings.  For this reason, the ALJ concludes that permitting Suwinski to proceed with claims for imposition of civil penalties is inconsistent with the statutory scheme upon which the Commission relies for its authority to assess civil penalties.

14. Furthermore, since the Commission’s civil penalty authority originates from statutes (i.e., § 40-6-112, C.R.S., states that transportation carriers are subject to civil penalties “as provided” in §§ 40-7-112 through 116, C.R.S.), that authority must be exercised in accordance with those statutes.  Section 40-7-116, C.R.S., mandates a number of procedures for the imposition of civil penalties by the Commission:  After specifying that the listed officials are the ones authorized to issue civil penalty assessments for violations of law, § 116 states that, “When a person is cited for such violation, the person operating the motor vehicle involved shall be given notice of such violation in the form of a civil penalty assessment notice” (emphasis added).  Section 116 further directs that the civil penalty assessment notice “shall be tendered by the enforcement official;” and that it “shall contain” the nature of the violation, the maximum penalty prescribed for the violation, a place for the carrier to execute an acknowledgment of receipt of the notice, a place for the carrier to execute an acknowledgment of liability for the cited violation, etc.  These mandatory procedures are inconsistent with complaint procedures before the Commission.  In fact, in this case, the complaint for civil penalties by Mr. Suwinski does not follow these procedural requirements.

15. The ALJ points out that compliance with the procedures specified in § 40-7-116, C.R.S., is not so much a matter of due process—complaint procedures could, arguably, meet general due process requirements—but, rather, a matter of complying with the mandates of the statutes granting the Commission penalty assessment authority.

16. The ALJ’s conclusion, that a private citizen has no standing to request civil penalties, is consistent with the law regarding civil penalty litigation.  For example, in Archibold v. Public Utilities Commission, 58 P.3d 1031 (Colo. 2002), the plaintiffs there contended that the Commission should have instituted a lawsuit in district court for the collection of civil penalties from Qwest Corporation.
  In rejecting that contention, the court noted that civil penalty lawsuits are brought in the name of the people, and the Commission, as the entity charged with enforcing the Public Utilities Law, has the discretion to bring those suits.  The Colorado Supreme Court observed:

Clearly, the General Assembley has consigned the pursuit or settlement of litigation for civil penalties to the PUC and the Attorney General, on behalf of the people.  Section 40-7-109, 11 C.R.S. (2002).  Significantly, the General Assembly did not provide a citizen suit provision under the Public Utilities Law, allowing individuals such as Archibold to institute a civil penalties lawsuit if the PUC does not.

Archibold v. Public Utilities Commission, at 1038.

17. While the court in Archibold was considering civil penalty lawsuits initiated in district court under § 40-7-109, C.R.S., the principles discussed by the court also apply to civil penalty actions authorized under § 40-7-116, C.R.S.  Section 40-7-116, C.R.S., simply empowered the Commission to conduct some civil penalty proceedings itself, those against transportation carriers, without having to go to district court.  However, a civil penalty proceeding under § 40-7-116, C.R.S., is still litigation on behalf of the state—the penalties are paid to the general fund.  See § 40-7-112(1)(a), C.R.S.  Moreover, civil penalties under §§ 40-7-112 to 116, C.R.S., are simply a means for enforcement of the laws relating to transportation carriers, and it is the Commission (with its Staff) that is statutorily charged with  enforcing those laws.  See §§ 40-7-101 and 109, C.R.S.  Just as in Archibold¸ a private complainant asking for civil penalties (like Mr. Suwinski) would be seeking a remedy “consigned to the agency by statute.”  Archibold, at 1039.

18. The ALJ further notes that cases from other jurisdictions support the decision here.  For example, several federal statutes authorize citizen lawsuits for civil penalties including the Clean Water Act,
 the Clean Air Act,
 and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976.
  See Gwaltney v. Chesapeake Bay Foundation, 108 S.Ct. 376, at 381 (U.S. 1987).  However, the federal courts have held that private citizens are authorized to file lawsuits for civil penalties to enforce a statute only when the legislature authorizes such lawsuits, and only to the extent of the legislation.  Gwaltney (Clean Water Act, which authorized citizen lawsuit for civil penalties, did not permit such actions for wholly past violations of the Act).  Accord: Friends of the Earth v. Laidlaw Environmental Services, 120 S.Ct. 693 (U.S. 2000) (private citizens lack statutory standing under citizen suit provision of Clean Water Act to sue for violations that have ceased by the time complaint is filed).

In paragraph 5 of his Brief—this is the only point in his pleadings at which Mr. Suwinski addresses his standing to request civil penalties—Mr. Suwinski quotes Decision 

No. R03-1035 (¶ 24), the Recommended Decision in Archuleta and Nietert v. Broadmoor Hotel.
  Apparently, Mr. Suwinski quotes Decision No. R03-1035 for the propositions:  that (a) under § 40-6-101, C.R.S., the Commission has general authority to conduct its proceedings, such as complaint cases, in a manner that promotes “the ends of justice”; and (b) that assessing civil penalties in a complaint case, where it is proven that a carrier has violated the law, promotes the interest of efficiency as compared to the Commission, in a complaint case, ordering its Staff to issue a civil penalty assessment followed by another duplicative proceeding.

The undersigned ALJ is not persuaded by these arguments for the reasons discussed above.  To reiterate:  The Commission has no general, non-statutory authority to assess civil penalties against public utilities, including transportation carriers.  The Commission is empowered to assess civil penalties only to the extent specifically authorized by statute, and the Commission is required to follow the provisions of those statutes.  And, to initiate a proceeding resulting in civil penalties against a carrier, a private complainant, such as Mr. Suwinski, must point to a statute expressly authorizing that action.  In fact, the Public Utilities Law does not authorize private citizens to initiate proceedings to assess civil penalties against transportation 

carriers.  By filing a complaint for civil penalties Mr. Suwinski is seeking a remedy “consigned to the agency by statute.”  Archibold, at 1039.

19. Keystone’s Answer Brief was accompanied by a Motion to Dismiss Complaint, or in the Alternative, Motion to Strike Brief.  The motion, in part, alleges that Mr. Suwinski’s Brief, filed in response to Decision No. R05-0255-I was not timely filed.  Mr. Suwinski’s Brief was due March 16, 2005.  However, Keystone argues, Mr. Suwinski filed his brief on March 17, 2005.  As an alternative to dismissal, Keystone moves to strike Mr. Suwinski’s Brief.

20. The ALJ denies these requests.  In fact, the Commission’s record indicates that Mr. Suwinski’s Brief was filed (by fax) on March 16, 2005, and, therefore, was timely.

21. Finally, Keystone requests dismissal of the complaint because Mr. Suwinski failed to file his list of witnesses and copies of exhibits as required by Rule 72(a)(5), Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure.
  According to Rule 72(a)(5), Mr. Suwinski’s list of witnesses and copies of exhibits were due on March 7, 2005.  Mr. Suwinski did not comply with that requirement by March 7, 2005.  In his response to the motion to dismiss, Mr. Suwinski states that he did not make these filings because he had filed a motion to change the hearing date.  Mr. Suwinski assumed that a new hearing date would entail a new schedule for filing lists of witnesses and copies of exhibits.

22. Although Keystone correctly notes that Mr. Suwinski has failed to comply with the schedule required by Rule 72(a)(5), the ALJ denies Keystone’s request for dismissal.  The ALJ concludes that no prejudice would result to Keystone by establishment of a new schedule for lists of witnesses and copies of exhibits.  The Order below directs Mr. Suwinski to file his list of witnesses and copies of exhibits by April 27, 2005.

III. ORDER
A. It Is Ordered That:

1. Consistent with above discussion, the requests in the complaint that:  (a) the Commission conduct an investigation of Vail Summit Resorts, Inc., doing business as Keystone Resorts; and (b) assess civil penalties against Vail Summit Resorts, Inc., doing business as Keystone are dismissed.  The hearing in this complaint proceeding, now scheduled for May 11, 2005, will be limited to Complainant Craig S. Suwinski’s request for refunds and interest on those refunds (¶ 9 of complaint).  The Motion to Dismiss by Vail Summit Resorts, Inc., doing business as Keystone is granted, to the extent it requests dismissal because Complainant lacks standing to request a Commission investigation and assessment of civil penalties.

2. The Motion to Dismiss by Vail Summit Resorts, Inc., doing business as Keystone Resorts, is denied to the extent it requests dismissal for Complainant’s failure to file his Brief on or before March 16, 2005.  The alternative Motion to Strike Complainant’s Brief is also denied.

3. The Motion to Dismiss by Vail Summit Resorts, Inc., doing business as Keystone Resorts, is denied to the extent it requests dismissal for Complainant’s failure to file his list of witnesses and copies of exhibits.

4. Complainant Craig S. Suwinski shall file or supplement his list of witnesses and copies of exhibits on or before April 27, 2005.

5. Respondent Vail Summit Resorts, Inc., doing business as Keystone Resorts, shall file its list of witnesses and copies of its exhibits on or before May 4, 2005.

6. This Order is effective immediately.
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�  Keystone, in its Answer Brief and Motion to Dismiss, argues that the Complainant’s brief was filed on March 17, 2005 and, as such, was untimely.  In fact, Commission records indicate that Mr. Suwinski’s brief was faxed to the Commission on March 16, 2005 as permitted under Commission rules.  Therefore, Mr. Suwinski’s brief was timely filed.


�  Mr. Suwinski filed his list of witnesses and exhibits on April 14, 2005.  Mr. Suwinski will be permitted to supplement that filing as late as April 27, 2005.


�  The vast majority of this discussion is drawn from Decision No. R05-0447, Docket No. 05F-055CP.  That docket, which involves the same two parties here, raised the identical issue as this case (i.e., Mr. Suwinski’s standing to request civil penalties against Keystone).


�  The ALJ notes that Mr. Suwinski need not file a formal complaint in order to request a Commission investigation of Keystone.  Rather, he may informally request, through oral or written communications, that Commission Staff (e.g., those Staff members who issue civil penalty assessments) investigate his allegations against Keystone.


�  The court specifically discussed § 40-7-109, C.R.S., which authorizes the Commission to initiate actions in district court to recover civil penalties.  For the reasons explained in this Recommended Decision, the court’s reasoning applies to civil penalty proceedings before the Commission under § 40-7-116, C.R.S.


�  33 U.S.C. § 1365(a).


�  42 U.S.C. § 7604.


�  42 U.S.C. § 6972.


�  The undersigned ALJ acknowledges that the Administrative Law Judge in Broadmoor did conclude that the Commission has authority to assess civil penalties in a complaint brought by a private citizen.  However, the Commission itself has not expressly ruled on this question.  In particular, in ruling on the exceptions to Decision No. R03-1035, the Commission did not address the issue.  See Decision No. C03-1344 (Mailed Date of December 2, 2003).


�  As far as promoting the ends of efficiency, the undersigned ALJ suggests that the most efficient procedure of all is for Mr. Suwinski to informally communicate his concerns to Commission Staff (Staff) and urge Staff to exercise its discretion to issue a civil penalty assessment against Keystone.


�  As for Mr. Suwinski’s apparent suggestion that the alternative to ordering civil penalties in a complaint case is ordering Staff to issue a civil penalty assessment followed by a duplicative proceeding, the ALJ notes:  First, the Commission in this case cannot order Staff to issue a civil penalty assessment because Staff is not a party to this case.  Second, dismissing the complaint for civil penalties prior to hearing precludes any duplicative proceeding.  The ALJ concludes that the proper procedure is for Mr. Suwinski to request (by informal communications, not by the filing of a complaint) that Staff investigate and commence a civil penalty proceeding.  If the Commission or Staff agrees, that would be the sole proceeding to consider whether Keystone violated the law and whether the Commission should impose civil penalties.


�  4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-1.


�  In fact, Mr. Suwinski filed his list of witnesses and copies of exhibits on April 14, 2005.  The schedule established here permits Mr. Suwinski to supplement that filing on or before April 27, 2005.
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